IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MX

James Odell McLamb

State of Mississippi

FILED

Petitioner

v.

MAY 10 2007

Cause No. 2007-CP-00496

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

FILED

Respondent

MAY 0 2 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
EMERGENCY MOTION FOR STATE GALEERS
APPEAL
APPEAL

JURISDICTION

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction under the Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice adopted effective May 1, 1995, Rule 2.07(1)(5) and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 11-43-53, 11-43-9, MCA Sec. 2815, 2819 and Wheller v. State, 219 Miss. 129; 70 So. 2d 82; 1954 Miss. Lexis 344, and because McLamb did file a State habeas corpus, not a motion for post-conviction relief. See MCA Sec. 11-43-9:

Application for motion for writ of habeas corpus shall be filed with the clerk of any court of competent jurisdiction of the county where the movant is detained. The writ of habeas corpus "SHALL" extend to all cases of illegal confinement or detention by which any person is deprived of his/her liberty, or by which rightful custody of the person is withheld from the person entitled thereto.

and the application "Shall" be made to the judge or chancellor of the district in which the relator is imprisoned. MCA Sec. 2819(1942).

Under Judicial Decisions(1) In General:

Trial court did not err by treating an inmate's writ of habeas corpus as a petition for post-conviction relief as the writ was not filed in the county where the inmate was detained as required by Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 11-43-9. Moore v. Miss. Dept. of Corrections, So. 2d (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The function of Supreme Court is to review the lower court's action in disposing of an application for writ of habeas and the issuance of writ should not be first requested for the Supreme Court. See Wheeler, Supra.

The Mississippi Legislature enacted the habitual criminal statute, section 99-19-81 of the Miss. Code of 1972 in the 1976 session of legislature, but effective from January 1st and after January 1, 1977. In <u>Bell v. State</u>, 726 So. 2d 93; (Miss. 1998)

concisely stated, Bell was indicted with enhanced penalties in 1984, under a 1977 statute, for a crime which occurred in 1977. Thus, the punishment he received as an habitual offender made more burdensome the punishment for his crimes, after commission, thereby violating the ex post facto provision of our State and Federal Constitutions, which warrant this Honorable Court authority as in Bell supra.

McLamb do swear to this Honorable Court the fact that he first filed his emergency motion for state habeas to Rankin County Circuit Court, the county where he is detained, see order as exhibit-1, but his petition was misconstrued as being a motion for a post-conviction relief and erroneously dismissed, but pursuant to Miss. Code Ann.

Sec. 99-39-5, where an inmate filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus and was requesting that his illegal sentence be corrected the court (Rankin County) should have exercised jurisdiction over the matter, also see Moore v. Ruth, 556 So. 2d 1059(Miss. 1991):

Where a prisoner is proceeding pro se, the court takes that fact into account and, in its discretion, credits not so well pleaded allegations, to the end that a prisoner's meritorious complaint may not be lost because it was inartfully drafted.

McLamb submit the fact that a petition for a writ of habeas corpus would be treated as a motion under MCA Sec. 99-39-5(1)(g), which authorizes a post-conviction motion in the nature of

"collateral review" by the petitioner, since he was in custody under a Mississippi conviction and claimed that he was "unlawfully held in custody" because of an "ex post facto clause" violation, which is a jurisdictional defect.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 19, 1981, McLamb was convicted of armed robbery as an habitual offender in the Circuit Court of Coanoma Count, Mississippi, and was subsequently sentenced to a term of life imprisonment without parole in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

On March 10, 1982, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. McLamb v. State, 410 So. 2d 1318(Miss.1982), on May 7, 1985 the circuit court resentenced McLamb to 33 years without parole in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. On June 4, 1986, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the trial court decision.

On June 13, 1988, McLamb filed numerous post-conviction motions, in which this Honorable Court denied relief on December 27, 1990.

McLamb now bring this his appeal from the circuit court of Rankin County, his emergency motion for state habeas corpus to vacate his illegal and expired sentence which is in violation of the ex post facto clause, which prohibits a state from enacting statutes which make more burdensome the punishment, which became operative January 1, 1977, The lower court has jurisdiction in this matter under rule 2,07:

The Writ of Habeas "shall" extend to all cases of illegal confinement by which any person is deprived of his/her liberty.

McLamb filed a timely notice of appeal to the Rankin County

Circuit Court and now submit his appeal to this Honorable Court for

it's decision.

FACTS

Be it remembered that on Monday, the 29th day of June, 1981, at 11:00 am, the petitioner, McLamb being present in open court before the Honorable Elzy J. Smith, Judge of the circuit court in Coahoma County for an bifurcate hearing.

On January 7, 1981, the Coahoma County grand jury issued the indictment against McLamb for the crime of armed robbery. See exhibit
A. McLamb was also indicted under MCA Sec. 99-19-83, and later the indictment was amended under MCA Sec. 99-19-81.

The fact that all of the above are state, ex post facto provision of federal and state constitution were violated by petitioner's sentence as an habitual offender for crimes that occurred prior to enactment of habitual criminal statute which deprive the trial court of jurisdiction, McLamb's conviction and sentence is <u>illegal</u>.

The fact that McLamb's sentence has expired and illegal after $16\frac{1}{2}$ years for armed robbery indictment under penal statute 97-3-79, a law that defines an offense and prescribes it penalty or punishment punitive statute. McLamb file his pro se emergency motion for state habeas corpus, a writ employed to bring a person before a court, most frequently to ensure that the party imprison or detained is not illegal.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW AND DISCUSSION

As a matter of introduction, McLamb do bring to this Honorable Court attention the fact that he was arrested on November 1, 1980, and further states that the State of Mississippi statutes, and the Mississippi Supreme Court binding precedents, also the United States Supreme Court precedents which was implemented prior to Article 1, Sec. 16 of the Mississippi Constitution bar the sentencing of McLamb as an habitual offender.

McLamb submit the fact that the issue is well-established in the Court in Collin v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 110 S.Ct. 2715, 111 L.Ed. 2d 30(1990). In Collins, the U.S. Supreme Court criticized jurisprudence which attemted to distinguish between procedural changes as opposed to changes affecting matters of substance. The Collins majority dictates that the following questions be answered in determining whether a new law violates ex post facto protections:

- 1.) Does the act punish as a crime an act previously committed which was innocent when done;
- 2.) Does the act make more burdensome the punishment for a crime, after it's commission; or
- 3.) Does the act deprive one charged with crime of any defense available at the time when the act was committed.

Also see United States v. Brechtel, 997 F. 2d 1108, 1113(5th Cir.1993).

Without any doubt, McLamb was indicted with enhanced penalties in 1981, under a 1977 statute, for a crime which occurred in 1965 and 1970. Thus, the punishment he recieved as an habitual offender made more burdensome the punishment for his crime statute punishment call for, after commission, thereby violating the ex post facto provision of our state and federal constitutions.

The crime for which McLamb was indicted in the present case at bar occurred on November 1, 1980. The Mississippi Legislature enacted the habitual criminal statute, section 99-19-81 of the Miss. Code of 1972 in the 1976 sessions of the legislature, but effective from and after <u>January 1, 1977</u>. McLamb was indicted and pled not guilty to armed robbery as an habitual offender potentially vindictive in 1981. The statute was not in existence at the time McLamb committed his offense of breaking and entering in 1962, crime of larceny in 1970 in the circuit court of Wake County, North Carolina, exhibit-D.

Concisely stated, section 99-19-81 of the Miss. Code of 1972 providing for the sentencing of habitual criminals to maximum of imprisonment was enacted by the 1972 legislature effective from and after January 1, 1977. McLamb was indicted with enhanced penalties in 1981, see exhibits-A, B, C and E. The lower court erred in overruling McLamb's motion to quash the indictment on the ground the indictment was vague, uncertain and incomplete, and selective in application therefore, unconstitutional. Thus, by the action of the lower court and the Supreme Court affirmed the punishment McLamb received as an habitual offender made more burdensome the punishment for McLamb's crime after commission, thereby violating the ex post facto provisions of our state and federal constitutions. Also see Johnson v. State, 618 So. 2d 90, 95 Miss.(1993). The indictment against McLamb as an habitual offender was null and void.

McLamb submit the fact that the issue is well-established in the Mississippi Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court. In Collins Supra,

The Supreme Court stated, legislatures may not retroactively alter the definition of crime or increase the punishment for

criminal acts. <u>Collins</u> at 497 U.S. at 43, The constitutional prohibition on ex post facto laws only applies to penal statutues. <u>Collins</u>, 497 U.S. at 41.

McLamb submit the fact the issue at bar is well-established in the Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Dunn v. Grisham</u>, 250 Miss. 74, 157 So. 2d 766(1963), and the state is without power to enforce against any person an ex post facto law. <u>Tiller v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 1001, 1004(Miss. 1983). McLamb states this court also discussed the issue at bar pertaining to enhanced sentencing for a crime which was committed prior to the effective date of the new statute. See <u>Puckett v. Abels</u>, 684 So. 2d 671(Miss. 1996), the court held:

Article 1, § 9, clause 3 of the United States [**9] constitution states No bill of attainder or ex post facto law shall be passed. [HN5] Article 1, § 10, clause of the United States Constitution prohibits a tate from passing expost facto laws, stating "No STATE SHALL"...pass any ...ex post facto law... [HN6] The state of Mississippi adopted this prohibition in its constitution in Article 3, § 16 stating, ex post facto laws shall not be passed.

The United States Supreme Court has interpreted [HN7] Article 1, § 10 of the United States Constitution to forbid the enact ment of any statute which punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent ehen done; which make more burdensome the punishment dor a crime (as case at bat) after it's commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of any defense available according to law at the time the act was committed.

Beazell v. ohio, 269 U.S. 167, 169, 46 S. Ct. 68, 70 L.Ed. 216 (1925). Boutwell v. Keating, 399 F. 3d 1203, 1215(10th Cir. 2005). This prohibition extends to agency regulations, Smith v. Scott, 223 F. 3d 1191, 1193-94(10th Cir. 2000). A law or regulation violates the ex post facto clause if the law (1) applies to events occurring before it was enacted, (as McLamb's case at bar) and (2) disadvantage the petitioner by changing the definition of criminal conduct or increasing the sentencing thereof. Id. at 1194(citing Lynce v. Mathis, 519 U.S. 433, 441, 117 S.Ct. 891, 137 L. Ed. 2d 63(1997).

McLamb submit the fact that Rankin County Circuit Court erred denying McLamb the writ of habeas corpus which is found in Article 1,

section 9, of the United States Constitution. Latin for bring forth the body of (McLamb) this provision ensures that if McLamb being held in C.M.C.F. after sentence expired after $16\frac{1}{2}$ years on a 33 years sentence and haven't been charged with a crime, McLamb have the right to go before an impartial judge and ask why McLamb being held? What is the evidence against McLamb? The lower court abused it power by changing McLamb's great writ of habeas corpus to a postconviction proceeding in violation of McLamb's Miss. Const. Ann. Article 3, § 21, Miss. const. Art. 3 section 516 without the authority of the legislature.

However, this Senator Bennie Turner of the Mississippi State Senate are in agreement with McLamb of statutory constitution. exhibit-attachment letter.

McLamb submit the fact that the statute, or the particular amendment to that statute with enhanced penalties in 1981, under a 1977 statute, for a crime which occurred in 1965 and 1970 was unlawfully applied in the case at bar in violation of the ex post facto clause of both the United States and Mississippi Constitution, for this reason, McLamb's conviction and sentence should be reversed and McLamb should be freed after the serving of $16\frac{1}{2}$ years on a 33 years for armed robbery.

The Court do holds pro se complaints to less-stringent standards than pleading drafted by an lawyer.

And after due consideration, do reverse McLamb's illegal conviction and sentence.

Respectfully,

Subscribed and sworn before me this MADISON MADISON COTARY OF THE 21.2008 7 day of Ma