### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES ODELL MCLAMB

**FILED** 

**APPELLANT** 

JUL 25 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-CP-0496

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against an Order of the Circuit Court of Rankin County in which relief was denied on the prisoner's "Emergency Motion for State Habeas Corpus."

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The prisoner was convicted of armed robbery and sentenced as an habitual offender in 1981. He appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court, and this Court affirmed his conviction and sentence in 1982. *McLamb v. State*, 410 So.2d 1318 (Miss. 1982). Later, in 1984, the prisoner filed a motion to vacate his sentence, apparently under the Uniform Post Conviction Relief Act. This Court found merit in the prisoner's claim, vacated his sentence, and the prisoner was then resentenced. *McLamb v. State*, 456 So.2d 743 (Miss. 1984). In 1986, the prisoner appealed some matter to this Court. The Court affirmed the lower court's action, but it is impossible to determine the nature of the action that was before the Court. *McLamb v. State*, 490 So.2d 912 (Miss. 1986). One may surmise, though, that it was an action in post - conviction

relief.

On 16 October 2006, the prisoner filed an "Emergency Motion for State Habeas Corpus." In that motion, the prisoner alleged that he was being illegally detained by the Mississippi Department of Corrections on account of an alleged expired and illegal sentence. According to the prisoner, his sentencing was a violation of the ex post facto clause. This was so, he said, because the felonies used to support his habitual sentence occurred in 1962 and 1970. The prisoner admitted, though, that the felony he committed for which the sentence was enhanced occurred in 1980. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 5 - 13).

On 16 November 2006, the Circuit Court denied relief on the prisoner's motion, finding that it did not have venue in the premises. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 30).

On 5 December 2006, the prisoner filed a motion for reconsideration. In this motion, he asserted that, under authority of Rule 2.07 UCCCP, the Circuit Court should have considered the prisoner's motion since the prisoner was detained in the Rankin County facility of the Department of Corrections. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 31 - 32). The Circuit Court did not rule on this motion, so far as the record indicates. On 7 February 2007, the prisoner filed his notice of appeal. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 36).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. IS THE INSTANT APPEAL PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT?
- 2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S PETITION FOR THE WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE INSTANT APPEAL IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT
- 2. THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT VENUE WAS IMPROPER

#### ARGUMENT

#### 1. THAT THE INSTANT APPEAL IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT

There are three reasons why the instant appeal is not properly before the Court.

First, the prisoner notice of appeal was filed long after the expiration of the time allowed to file an appeal under Rule 4 MRAP.

Section 99-39-21(1), (2), (3) (Supp. 12006). The prisoner could have raised the issue he attempted to raise in the Circuit Court in his motion on his appeal from his conviction. He certainly could have raised it in his appeal in post - conviction relief, where this Court vacated his original sentence. The prisoner could have discovered this issue with reasonable diligence in 1981 and 1985. There have been no significant changes in the judicial construction of ex post facto law relevant to the case at bar since 1981.

Thirdly, while it may be that the prisoner styled his motion as one in habeas corpus, the fact of the matter is that it was to be considered one in post - conviction relief. *Grubb v. State*, 584 So.2d 786 (Miss. 1991). Since the prisoner had at least one prior action in post - conviction relief considered, in 1986, and admits to having filed a number of others which apparently did not make it to this Court, the motion involved in this case was surely a successive writ and barred for that reason.

# 2. THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT VENUE WAS IMPROPER

As we have said, though the prisoner styled his motion as one for habeas corpus, it was in fact to be treated as one in post - conviction relief. Under the Uniform Post - Conviction Relief Act, the prisoner should have filed his motion in the court in which he was convicted. Miss Code Ann. Section 99-39-7 (Supp. 2006). The prisoner filed in Rankin County, where he is apparently in custody, but he was convicted in Coahoma County. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 16 - 17). The Circuit Court of Rankin County thus properly found that venue was improper.

While the merits of the prisoner's claim are not properly before this Court, since, for several reasons, it was not properly before the Circuit Court, we need not reach the merits of the prisoner's claim. We will merely observe that it is incorrect.

The prisoner was convicted of armed robbery in 1981, the felony occurring in 1980. This was several years after the effective date of the habitual offender statutes. While it appears that the prisoner was originally sentenced under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-83 (Rev. 2000), he was ultimately sentenced under Section 99-19-81.

It is true that the prior convictions used to support the prisoner's sentence occurred some years before the effective date of the habitual offender statutes. But the use of them to support habitual sentencing did not and does not offend the ex post facto clauses. *Smith v. State*, 465 So.2d 999 (Miss. 1985). Habitual offender sentencing is not a new or additional sentence for the crimes the prisoner committed in 1962 and 1970; the habitual sentence was imposed for the 1980 armed robbery. The sentence was enhanced because of the prisoner's predilection for serious law - breaking.

## **CONCLUSION**

The Order of the Circuit Court finding improper venue should be affirmed.